LAURA v. FUJI COMPONENT PARTS USA, INC. Doc. 61
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA
INDIANAPOLIS DIVISION

DOUGLAS LAURA,
Plaintiff,
1:14¢v-00890SEB-MJD

VS.

FUJI COMPONENT PARTS USA, INC.,

N N N N N N N N N

Defendant.

ORDER ON DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

This cause is before the Court on Defendant Fuji Component Parts USA, Inc.’s
(“Fuji”) Motion for Summary Judgment [Docket No. 37], filed on May 8, 26tf.the
reasons detailed in this order, Defendant’s motidBRANTED in part andDENIED

in part.

Factual Background

Fuji is an Indiana corporation andvholly ownedsubsidiary othe Japanese
company, Fuji Buhin Industries, InDkt. 10. Fuji operates a sales and distribution
facility in Indianapolis, Indiana. Rhodes Aff. at 2. Dasg aura is an African

Americanemployee at the Indianapolis facility. Compl. at § 1.

l. Laura’s Job Titles and Promotions

Mr. Laura first begamvorking at Fuji as a temporary worker in May 2007. Laura
Dep. 22:1228:4. He was hired as a falme Team Leader ifuji’'s Prep Area thre

weeks laterin June 20071d. Based on the recommendation of Susan Thomgss
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Manager of Human Resourcatsthe timeLaura wagpromotedo the position of

Warehouse Supervisduringhis first yeamwith the companyld. at 82:16-85:24.

Over the course of theextthree and a half years, Thon@msistently
recommendethat Lauraagainbepromoted from Warehouse SupervisoAssistant
Warehouse Manager, a positithatbecamevacant inJuly 2008.1d. at 89: 12-13;
Maehara Dep. 14:322. Despite Thomas’s recommendations, Ftiign current
presidentKazuoSatq declined to promote Laurahoosingnstead tdeawe the Assistant
Warehouse Manager position unfillédura Depat 91:3-9; Thomas Dep. 250:21
251:5 Although Laura did not receive agmotionto Assistant Warehouse Manager
when the position became vacant, he assumed responsibility tuttbe that would
have beemssigned to the Assistavwtarehouséanagerhad thepositionbeen filled
Maehara Dep. 123-15: 22 Tanahara Dep. 3¥9-38:24;Laura Dep. 11®-7, 269:16—
19; 8918-24. Laura eventually wasmedAssistant Warehouse Managei~ebruary
2012 byMakoto Maehara, who had returned as Fuji's president in.204ddehara Dep.
88:24-89:16Laura claims in this actiothat Fuji's excessive delay in prmotihgn to

Assistant Warehouse Manager was unlawful in violation of 42 U§&1081.

After LaurabecameaheAssistant Warehouse Manager~ebruary 2012Fuji’s
organizational chart reflected thas direct supervisor was tHgenior Warehouse
Manager,Tomoyasu Masuyama. Dkt. 42at 6. Masuyama testified, however, that

although Fuji’s president requested thatemporarily serve as the Senior Warehouse

! Kazuo Sato served as president of Fugjinf 1996 to 2000 and from Ap2008 to Jun€011. Maehara
Aff. at 4. Yasuhiko Suda served as president from 2000 to 2@0b.Id. at 5. Makoto Maehara
servedas president of Fuji from Apr2005 until March 2008 and from June 2011 to the presenidiay.
at | 3.
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Manager, heaever officially assumed #trole or exercised control ovédre Warehouse
DepartmentMasuyama Dep.:82—7:16.It is undisputed that when Barbara Smith was
terminated from her employment as Assistant Warehouse Manager, Laura became the
highest ranking employee in the Warehouse Department, reporting directly tdeRtesi
Makoto Maehara Lauraclaimsthat Masuyama was listed as the Senior Warehouse
Managerin order forFuji to avoid promotindnim to that position. See Dkt. 42 at 32

(“Fuji put him there to avoid putting Laura there.”).

In October of 2014, President Maehara revised the organizationatlachamrove
Masuyama’s designation as Senior Warehouse Mamsagsathe previous chart did not
correctly reflect the responsibilities in the Warehouse Departatéhat time Maehara
Dep.9: 7-21. Under the new organizational chfasuyamaetained his titleasa
Manager of Subaru Sales ands alsdisted as Manager of Productiddaehara was
listedas President of Fuji and acting Senior Manager of all five Bajow is a
comparison of the tworganizational charighe first chart depicts the original staffing

arrangement, and the second chart reflect the revise assignments:
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As both charts reveaheither the Warehouse Department nor the Quality
Assurance Departmemntcludesa “Manager” position betweethose ofthe Assistant
Manager and Senior Manag@&kt. 42-1 at 6.As a result, Horace Tucker abduglas
Laura actdas the highest ranking emplogegndde factohead of their respective
departments, althougkach heldhe title of Assistant Managevir. Lauraclaims that this
lesser designatioasa “less distinguished title” also constitutedwarawful

discriminationin violation of42 U.S.C.8§ 1981.

I. Mr. Laura’s Compensation

After assuming responsibility for leadership of the Warehouse Department in
2008, Laura continued to receive the same hourlyofgpayof $16.62 until January 28,
2012 thereafterhis hourly pay was raised to $18.27. Dkt-44 aura was compensated
atthat hourly rate until March 2018hen Presiden¥laehara shiftethim from hourly
pay to a biweekly salary of $1,730.87, an amount equal to hisdpo@yng the previous
two years, including overtime. Maehara D2p25-21:10Rhodes Aff.y 5 The
following spring,in April 2014, MaeharagavelLaura a 1.11% raise, bringing his bi

weekly salary from $1,730.87 tos current rate o$1,750.00Rhodes Aff.q 5.

Following tis raise, Laura met with Maehamsecurean explanation for hiene-
percent raise when he believed “other people had received somethihdnetlsat
regard, he requested a written evaluasapporting Maehara’s decisiobaura Dep66—
68, 101-106Maehara, who is the direct supervisor of all five Fuji department heads,
informed Laura that he has never completed a formal, written evaluation of any of the

department leaders, but that reviewing Laura’s performance, hautinely considered
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Laura’s overall work ethic, attendance, leadership qualities, and effective management
skills. Maehara Dep. at 489, 57.Maehara expresséd Laura that he felt the raise

which was only six ondundredths of a percent lower than the median 1.17%fraisd

Fuji employeeswas fair and instructed.aurato reduce the number of labeling errors,
shipment errors, and workplace accidents in the warehouse in order to improve his status

at Fuji.ld.; Maehara Dep39-40.

In bringing this lawsuit, Lauralaimsthat he was not paid an appropriate salary
togethemwith appropriate raises and bonuses for the work he performs at Fuji. Dkt. 42 at
17, 6 He also claims that Fuiji’'s failure to issue him written performance violations was
unlawful, in violation of 42 U.S.C8§ 1981.ld at § 8. Lastly Lauraclaims that after he
transitioned fronhourly pay to salary, he was not compensated for overtime work
although othesalaried Fuji employees werkt. 42 at 179 5. Each of these
deficiencies by Fuji with respect to Laura’s employment is, in his view, discriminatory

based on his race.
[ll.  Susan Thomas’s Testimon

Mr. Laurahas relied heavily othe testimony of Susan Thom@ssupport his
claims of discrimination. Thomassumed the role of Human Resources Manager for
Fuji in 2003 and served as an uppmrel manager of Human Resources and Operations
until she voluntarily resigned from her employment in February ZDidmas Dep.

31:12-32:24.

Thomas testified that on oecasion Japanese members of Fuji's parent company

were visiting the Indianapolis facility and happened to obgeevhosting a “morning



meeting” with employees, after which Takayuki Abe informi&masthat she should

no longer conduct planning or mameagentmeetings as that wasdutyreserved for

Japanese expatriatt$homas Dep. 3787, 255:1-25 Thomaswas granted a meeting

with the parent company directors during their visit during which Hiroshi Watanabi, the
Director and Chief Adviser of Fuji's parent compaftglearly stated that [Fuji] was a

Japanese company, and it [would] be run by Japanese.” Thomas Defl155:6

According to Thomas, President Maehara was present at both meetings and although he
never directly expressed that only Japanese expatriates could hold management positions,

he acquiesced in the parent company’s preferentteat regard. Thomas Dep. 58:@.

With regard to Laura, Thomas testified thatemelured “constant badgering” from
former Fuji President Kazuo Sato, and that it “was reportetétthat Sato had
threatened to repladeaurg along with everyone else, with Japanese employees who he
felt could do their jobs mucimore quickly Thomas Dep. 1888-25.Following these
threatsa meeting was held at whidfhomasheard Sato refer to Laura as “usele$s.’at
230:10-19Shetestified furthetthat, in her opinionFuji discriminated against Laura on
the basis of his radeecause “[when Laura]r8t came on board, he was not encouraged
to communicate with customeesspecially Subaru, [Fuji’s] largest customer. It took a
very long time for him to get to that spo222:11-18. She added further that Laura, who
was a top performer, was treated differently than people who did not perform as well or
facilitate as many improvements as he had. 22223:19 Lastly, Thomas testified that

if Laura hadpoerformedthe same quality of workut had been Japanesgher than

21t is unclear what position Takayuki Abe helther within Fuji or its parent company, only that he was
charged with delivering this message to Thomas after the wgisitiectors observed the meeting.
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African-American he would have made more money and obtambkihefranking job

title than those assignéd him by Fuji.ld. at 253:5-15.

Scopeand Nature of Present Action

Laura’s lawsuitommenced odune 2, 2014n his ComplaintLaura asserts that
he “was treated in a disparate manner as to the terms, conditions, and privileges of his
employmentascompared to other similarly situated Caucasianvaarkers” Dkt. 1 at |
11 (emphasis added). He further allsgfgat “Fuji intentionally and/or with reckless
disregard discriminated against him in the terms, conditions and privileges of his
employment on the basis of his racghe payment of the wages earned by.’hich at

13 (emphasis added)

During discoveryFuji requested thain connection with thallegations in
Paragraph 11 of his Complaihiauraidentify eah and every similarly situated
Caucasian cawvorker, who, in comparison tam, he allegeso have been treated in a
disparate mannen the terms, conditions, and privilegestbéir employmentDkt. 39-6
at 7.In responseo this InterrogatoryLauraprovided the names of five Caucas@n
workers (1) Barbara Smith, (2) Jim Christie, (3) Nigel Christen, (4) Laura Harper, and
(5) Mike Frenchld. In addition,Laura stated: “Bcovery has revealed that | may be a
victim of discrimination by virtue of disparate treatment by members of the Asian racial
group in addition to my treatment with respect to members of the Caucasian racial

group.”Id.

On February 18, 2015, Fuji’'s counsel requessegbplementation” of.aura’s
response to this Interrogatofyaura declined to supplement the prior resporay

contending that it wasy fact “an entirely new interrogator given thatit was a request
8



for the names of the Asian-weorkers who, in comparison witbaurg were alleged to
have been treated disparately, whereas the original interrogatory asked only for similarly

situated Caucasian aworkers Dkt. 42 at 20 n.1.

Fuji deposed Lauran March12, 2015 Laura was asked to identinyco-
worker, beyond the fivalready-identifiedCaucasian cavorkers who healleged were
treated disparatelyased on race. Laura Dep. 242t1. Laura testifiethat he believed
other employees beyond those fhad been treated in a raciatlisparate fashigrbut
thathe could not recall any of thetames|d. Fuji also asked Laura to identify the
mannerin which he believed his eworkers were treatedfterently, to which Laura
responded(1) wages and salary; (8)sciplinary actions; (3) the manner in which the co
workers are “talked to”; (3) attendance; and (4) the qualifications required of-his co

workers to achieve their positions. Laura Dep 24245:1.

Pursuant to the Court's Case Management Rl@opvery ended oApril 1, 2015
On April 10, 2015, the partieled their“Statement of Claims & Legal Theorig®kt.

31. In relevant part, Laura’s “Statement” provides as follows

* % %

4. Laura is a member of a protected class, as he is an African
American and he is a neksian.

5. Laura has been contiously employed by Fuji for more than
the last fouryears and remains sdhile he has been continually
meeting the legitimate expectations of Fuji in the performance
of his job duties.

6. The former Human Resources Director of Fuji has
acknowledged that Laura was the subject of adverse job action
by Fuji management because he is an Afddamerican and
because he is not Japanese, that is, he is not Asian.



7. NonJapanese persons were, and are, not eligible to occupy
senior management positions, or independently make upper
management decisions at Fuji.

8. The president of Fuji held, and expressed, thepneeived
notion that Laura was useless because he is an AfAoserican

and is not Japanese. He referred to Laura as being a useless
person.

9. Laura has been mistreated as a Fuji employee because he is a
member of protected classes.

10. Laura has suffered adverse job action in that he has not been
promoted to job positons for which he is, and was, qualified,
namely Warehouse Manager and Senior Warehouse Manager,
but kept in a more lowly position while being assigned all of the
work of a Warehouse Manager and while the job of Warehouse
Manager remained open, in spite of numerous rec@ndations

from Fuji's head of Human resources that he be promoted.

11. Laura was also denied promotion to the position of Senior
Warehouse Manager while the position wastpseually filled

by unqualified Asian persons who were not doing the work
required by that position while Laura was doing it.

12. Laura has suffered adverse job action in that he has not been
paid in the manner which he should have been paid, namely
overtime pay compensation when other salaried employees of
Fuji who were not members of Laura’s protected class, were paid
such overtime compensation.

13. Laura has suffered adverse job action in that he has not been
paid in the manner which he should have been paid, namely
periodic and appropriate raises in salary, and bonuses, for the
work that he was performing, including the substantially
increased responsibilities of a Warehouse Manager and/or
Senior Warehouse Manager and in spite of the tremendous
growth of Fuji, along with a concurrent increase in Laura’s job
responsibilities and wé.

14. Laura has suffered adverse job action that has impeded his
career, namely by not assigning him title of Warehouse Manager
and/or Senior Warehouse Manager, but rather denominating him
as a Warehouse Supervisor or Assistant Warehouse Manager,
when he was actually performing all of the duties of several
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positions, namely: Team Lead of Receiving, Team Lead of
Shipping, Warehouse Manager and Senior Warehouse Manager.

15. Laura has suffered adverse job action that has impeded his
career, namely by not providing written and appropriate
performance evaluations of his work, so that he was actually
evaluated in a discriminatory manner.

16. The action of Fuji in placing unqualified person in the
position of Warehouse Senior Manager were taken as a pretext
soas to avoid having to place Laura in the position of Warehouse
Manager and/or Warehouse Senior Manager while requiring him
to perform the duties of those jobs (and others) and to avoid
paying him wages consummate with the work being done in all
of thosepositions.

17. Fuji failed and declined to provide Laura with necessary
training that it was acknowledged by Fuji management he should
have been given in order for Fuji to be able totpsaually deny

him the positions of Warehouse Manager and/or Senior
Warehouse Manager.

18. Fuji created one or more false organizational charts that were
utilized in the operation of its business when the actual
organizational chart which Fuji provided to its parent company
in Japan revealed that Laura was not in the actual positon that he
occupied, and this action was taken as a pretext to deny him
advancement with Fuji through the approval of those persons
with the actual authority to make decisions regarding Laura’s
pay and job positions.

19. Fuji managed denied Laura the same opportunities to interact
with its customers that it extended to other-pootected class
employees.

* % %

Laura’s laundnyist includes a hodgpodge of evidence, opinion, grievances and

statements which areithercognizable claimsor legal theories. In major respects, this

list appearso belittle more ttanslightly modified versionsf the same claintGiving

Laura’s lista liberal interpretation and some analytical help by the Court, it apipedars

heintends tary to prove the following claims at trial: failure to promoi@proper
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calculation of pay, failure to awaappropriate raises and bonuses, undervaluing his
status by giving him a less distinguished job title, and refusing to prawvitten and
appropriate performance evaluatiaisis work. Dkt. 31. These claims discrimination

based on hian AfricanAmerican and alsoot Japanesdd.

These claimgreatly exceeavhat Lauraoriginally alleged in his Complaint
namely, disparate paifuji thusrequests thdtaura’sclaims of disparate treatment as
compared taJapaneser Asian employeebe stricken, arguing that those claims fall
outside the scope dfura’sComplaint andhat Laura alséailed to supplement his
discovery responsesgarding any such comparatdbkt. 38 at 30Fuji further requests
that anyclaim of discrimination not directly tied to compensatinstricken abeyond
the scope oLaura’s Complaintin any event, to use Fuji's terminology, tHep not

hold water.”ld.

Fuji’'s contention is correct that a piéif generallycannot amend his complaint
by raising novel arguments laterthre litigation SeeShanahan v. City of Chicag82
F.3d 776, 781 (7th Ci1996)(plaintiff may not amend his complaint through a brief filed
in opposition of a motion for summary judgment or motion to dismid®)ever, the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure’s regime of notice pleadaigowledges that
plaintiff's rights are not frozen with the framing of t@mmplaint. Rather, complaint must
simply provide “a short and plain statement of the claim that will give the defendant fair
notice of what the plaintiff's claim is and the grounds upon which it rdstatherman v.
Tarrant County Narcotics Intelligence & Coordination Urkf)7 U.S. 163, 517 (1993)
(quotations omitted)Evenunder the recast requirements impose@él Atlantic Corp.

v. Twombly550 U.S. 544 (2007), arkhcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662 (2009), the
12



complaint neechot list all claims or specify all legal theoridsis subjecto baeng freely
amended or constructively amended as the case devetdpeg astheamendments do
not unfairly surprise or prejudice the defend&rél Marcelle v. Brown County Corp.,
680 F.3d 887, 909 (7th Cz012) (en banc)johnson v. City of Shelby:—U.S.——

135 S.Ct. 346, 347 (2014) (per curiam)

As “the federal rules do not contemplate that parties will amend their pleadings to
reflect new information obtained in the discovery pro¢esseAsh v. Wallenmeye879
F.2d 272, 274 (7th Cir. 198% brief that incorporates facts developed during the course
of discoverymaybe dimmed taonstructivelyamend a pleadingf the amendments do
not unfairly surpriseor prejudice hie defendantUmar v. Johnsonl 73 F.R.D. 494, 503
(N.D.III.1997)(holding that “a party is then really engaged nothing more than the
essential equivalent of amending the pleading to conform to the evidence (something that
Is permitted even mtHudgment, see Rule 15(b))9f. Whitaker v. Milwaukee Cty.,
Wisconsin 772 F.3d 802, 8008 (7th Cir. 2014fholding that the proffer of “new and
drastic factual allegations” not contained in the pleadings or uncovered in discovery will
not be allowed at the summary judgment stalg®yeover, in accordance with Rule
15(b)’s goal of providinghe maximum opportunity for each claim to be decided on its
merits rather than oprocedural technicalities, the coaraly constructively amend the
pleadings to conform to the evidence at the summary judgment st@gewhere there
has been no formal motion by the part\&lton,875 F.2d at 1320 n. 3 (stating that
“[a]ithough it is the judge rather than the parties who introduced the amendment, and

although the amendment was effected during consideration of a motion for summary
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judgment rather than at trial, it is fully consonant with the spirit of Rule 15(b) and

existing case law to view the pleadings as constructively amended here”).

Thus, hequestion before us is whether a constructive amendmésaiLod’s
Complaint to include a theory of racial discrimination based on the disparate treatment of
Asian coeworkers in addition to Caucasian-emrkersand to include adverse
employment actions not directly related to Laura’s claim of disparatenyoayd unfairly
surprise or prejudice FujiAlthough Plaintiff's discovery compliance has been far from
accepted standardse find that Fuji would not by unfairly prejudiced by the Court’s
constructive amendment bis pleading to conform to the evidence developed in the
course ofdiscovery2 Laurds Complaint placed Fuji on notice that he was allegauial
discrimination in the terms, conditions, and privileges of his employment. Dkt. 1.
Discoveryprovided a basis on which he is able to expand and particularize his claim to
include disparate treatmecwmparedot only to hisCaucasian cevorkers, but alsto
his Asian ceworkers. Dkt.39-6. Discovery furtherevealeda basis for Laura to allege
disparate treatment in morespects than simply his paye-wit—other employees’
attendance, discipline, and requirements for pramestiLaura Dep 244:8245:1 Based
on theevidencauncovered during discovery, Fuji has proven itself capable of mounting
adequate defenses to each.afira’s claimsas is clear from itsummary judgment

briefing, which includes the identification efich Aian ceworker with whom hemay

3 We remind Plaintifthat civil litigation “is not supposed to be merely a game, a joust, at;drsh v.
Wallenmeyer879 F.2d 272, 275 (7th Cit989), and we cautiasmgainstany such attempts to secure a
tactical advantage going forward. District courts conduct ciwjdtion with an eye toward discovering
the truth, which is whyve have decide to address the i8es on their merits. Howevatistrict courts are
not required to reward tactics designed to deprive the court or thiadec of information needed to
decide a claim fairlyJohnson v. Hix Wrecker Serv., In628 F. App'x 636, 639 (7th Cir. 2013
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have been compared and the viability of each alleged adverse employment action. Thus,
in accordance with Rule 15(hye shall constructively amend LausaComplaint to

conform to the evidena@vealedn discovery, but no further.

Legal Standard

Summary judgmentequiresthe Court to find that a trial is unnecessary because
there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and, instead, the movant is entitled to
judgment as a matter of laBeeFed.R.Civ.P. 56(a)As the current version of Rule 56
makes clear, whether a party asserts that a fact is undisputed or genuinely disputed, the
party must support the asserted fact by citing to particular parts of the record, including
depositions, documents, or affidavits. Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(c)(1A)arty can also support
amaterialfact by showing that thevidencecited desnot establish the absence or
presence of a genuine dispute or that the adverse party cannot produce admissible
evidence to suppothe fact. Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(c)(1)(BAffidavits or declarations must be
made on personal knowledge, set out facts that would be admissible in evidence, and
show that the affiant is competent to testify on matters stated. Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(c)(4)
Failure to properly support a fact in opposition to a movant's factual assertion can result
in the movant'aissertedact being considered undisputed, and potentially in the grant of

summary judgment. Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(e).

On summary judgment, a party must also showCihert what evidence it has that
would convince a trier of fact to accept its version of the evéalsison v. Cambridge
Indus.,325 F.3d 892, 901 (7th Cir. 2003). The moving party is entitled to summary
judgment if no reasonable fafhder could return a verdict for the nomoving party.

Nelson v. Miller570 F.3d 868, 875 (7th Cir.2009). The Court views the record in the
15



light most favorable to the nemoving party and draws all reasonable inferences in that
party's favorDarst v. Interstate Brands Cpr,512 F.3d 903, 907 (7th Cir. 2008). It

cannot weigh evidence or make credibility determinations on summary judgment because
those tasks are left to the fdotder. O'Leary v. Accretive Health, In&57 F.3d 625, 630

(7th Cir.2011). The Court need ordgnsider the cited materials, Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(¢)(3)

and the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals has “repeatedly assured the district courts that
they are not required to scour every inch of the record for evidence that is potentially
relevant to the summajydgment motion before themJohnson325 F.3d at 898. Any

doubt as to the existence of a genuine issue for trial is resolved against the moving party.

Ponsetti v. GE Pension Plaél4 F.3d 684, 691 (7th Cir. 2010).

Discussion

In his summary judgment briefinlylr. Laurasimply restategn numeric fashion
paragraphs 7 through 19 of l@kove-mentionetiStatement of Claimg& Legal
Theories.” As we have alreadpted many of these “Section 1981 Claims” ovenaiph
one another, while othedo notstatecognizable claims. None tiie itemized “claims”
has been tied to specific legal argunsestsupporting evidenda the record. Rather, in
Plaintiff's analysis, he states simply that his claims are itemized in Section Ili(c) of his
brief, thatthe evidence supporting those claican be found in Section Il (“Statent of
Material Facts in Dispute’df his brief andthat “[i]f [such] circumstantial evidence is
considered here, thegsic) circumstantial facts to raise the inference of discrimination

with respect to Laura’s employment are as folldws:

1. Laura belongs to a racial minority. There is no dispute that Laura is, as an
African American, not Japanese, that is, not an Asian, and is, thus, a
member of two such groups.
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. Laura was qualified for the job of Assistant Warehouse Manager for
many years, but was denied that vacant position for at least four years
before he was promoted to it (with no raise in pay from his prior, lesser
position as Warehouse Supervisor) in 2012, and that he was qualified and
repeatedly rejected as a candidate for the job of Warehouse Manager on
numerous occasions, and he has never been promoted to that position.

. Laura was as qualified as any person who ever served in the capacity of
the Fuji Warehouse Manager and/or Senior Warehouse Manager but was
never appointed to that position.

. The position of Assistant Warehouse Manager and Warehouse Manager
remain vacant.

. Laura was a salaried employee and not paid overtime rated for all of his
overtime work while other Fuji salaried employees not in his protected
classes were so paid.

. Laura was not eligible to occupy a senior management position or
independently make upper management decision at Fuji, due to his being
[in] the protected classes.

. Laura was perceiveldly Fuji as being a useless person because he was
non-Japanese, and also an African American.

. Laura suffered adverse job action in that he was not paid in the manner in
which he should have been paid, that is, an appropriate salary together
with periodic and appropriate raises in salary hadusedor work he

was performing

. Laura suffered adverse job action that have impeded his career, namely
by not providing written and appropriate performance evaluation of his
work so that he was actually evaluated in a discriminatory manner.

10.Fuji management deniddaurathe same opportunities to interact with

customers that it extended to other ypwatected class members.

Dkt. 42 at 2425.

Suchdisjointed lists ofgeneralizedclaims” and “circumstantial factsgach

relying on nearly identical conclusory language aadhdevoid of citations, along with

request that the Cour¢view hisstatement of facts in search of evidence to support his

statements is a dereliction of duty by Plaintiff’'s counsel and an imposition on the Court
“It is the parties’ duty to package, present, and support their arguments, and we shall not

waste our time searching in vain for a dispute of material fact if we come across a factual

contention or denial not adequately supported in the recBe"Roger Whitmore’s Auto
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Serv. v. Lake Cnty., 1Jl424 F.3d 659, 664 n.2 (7th Cir. 2005). Likewise, it isthet
Court’'sfunction to make the parties’ arguments for them; therefeeewill not go

“truffle hunting through the record, thariefs, or the law in order to craft possible
arguments not sufficiently articulated before @stierrez v. Kermon722 F.3d1003,

1012 (7th Cir. 2013).

In an attempt to perform judicitdiagewe summarize/categoriz8aintiff's
numerous allegations &sllows: (1) claimsunrelated to 42 U.S.G8 1981, (2)afailure to

promote claim; and (3) a disparate pay claim.

l. Claims Unrelated to 42 U.S.C§ 1981

Several of Laura’s allegations are irrelevant to this action either because they do
not involve race or because they do not represent a cognizable adverse employment
actiors pursuant to 42 U.S.@.1981 This includegheclaims that: (L he“was perceived
as useless” by Fuji; (2)edid not receive appropriate raises, bonuses and salary “in spite
of the tremendous growth of Fuji(3) hedid not receive written work evaluations; @

did not receive necessary trainjragd (5)that Fuji created more than one organizational

chart to operate its business. See Dkt. 42 a187

Courts donot sit as a “supepersonnel department” with the plenary power to
secondguess the wisdom and fairness of Fuji’s business judgment and employment
decisionsColeman v. Donaho&67 F.3d 835, 862 (7th Cir. 201%ates v. Caterpillar,
Inc., 513 F.3d 680, 689 (7th Cir. 200®'Regan v. Arbitration Forums, In246 F.3d
975, 984 (7th Cir. 2001). Thus, it is not @ale to determine if Laura’s pay was

appropriate in relation to Fuji’'s growth, or whether it would be better practice for Fuji to
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conduct written work evaluations and provide more traifamgis employeesLikewise,
Fuji’'s use of multiple organizational charts andoiscial perception of Laur@vhatever
that means) do not represent cognizable adverse employment actions under 48 U.S.C.

1981 Accordingly, weGRANT summary judgment in favor &fuji on these “claims.”

Il. Failure to Promote

The allegationsistedin paragraphs 1, 3, 4, 7, 9, 10, and 11 of “Laura’s Particular
§ 1981 Claims"canproperlybe distilledinto a single failure to promotedaim. Dkt. 42 at
17-18 Specifically,Laura claims thafollowing Barbara Smith’s departure from Fuji in
July 2008, he became the highest ranking employee in Fuji's Warehouse Department,
who was responsible for all the waokherwisedesignated to that department’s leader,
yetwas not assigned the title of Assistant Warehouse ManagjefP012. He has not
even nowbeen assigned the title(s) of Warehouse Manager or Senior Warehouse

Manager. Seél.

Typically in afailure to promoteslaim, the plaintiff must demonstrate that he was
denied a promotion and that the defendant promoted someone from outside his protected
group with similar or lesser qualificatiorf®eJohnson v. Indopco, Inc/9 F.3d 1150
(7th Cir. 1996)Here, itis urdisputedthat Laura was the first and only employee to be
namedAssistant Warehouse Manager afteg positionbecame vacant in 2008. It is also
undisputed thato Fuji employee currently holds or has held the title of Wauee
Manager, and thdahe Senior Warehouse Manager position is hel@t@gident Maehara,
who holds the Senior Manager position in every departr@@mteit is clear that Laura

became the leader of Warehouse Department immediately upon Smith’s departure, his
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actualcomplaint is that Fuiji failed tpromptly assign him a new title concomitant with

his new duties.

Although Plaintiff contends that the assignment of a “less distinguished title” may
form the basis of a prohibited adverse employment action, he cites no case which
supports thargument that the withholding of a jaobe, alone, is actionable. Rather, the
case law cited by both parties supports the majority rule that even demotions and
transfers are insufficient if not accompanied by a change in pay, benefits, auties,
prestige See Burlington Indus., Inc. v. Ellerth24 U.S. 742, 761 (1998) (collecting
cases)see also Herrnreiter v. Chicago Housing Au®il5 F.3d 742, 744 (7th Cir. 2002).
Here, Lauredbecame the highest ranking employee in Fuji’'s Warehouse Department when
Barbara Smith left her employmenith Fuji, andwhen he waslesignated thAssistant
Warehouséanager in 2012, his hourly pay, job responsibilities, andtdalay
activities remained the same as when he was the Warehouse Supervisors Sespl.
at 4 (“Laura did nothing different after he was given the job of Assistant Warehouse
Manager than he did when he was a Supervisor in the warehouse.”); Pl.’s Resp. at 29
(“Significantly, it is also undisputed that in 2012, when Laura was finally givetitle
of Assistant Warehouse Manager, he was paid virtually the same amount after that
promotion as he had been paid before, that is, for.2p(emphasis in originall.aura
similarly failed to offer any evidence that the Warehouse Managewbilisl have been
or should have been accompanied by a raise in pay, benefits, or*digiesuse Laura

assumed the position of departmbaadfor the Warehouse Department upon Barbara

41n an alternate iteration of this claim, Plaintiff contends that his tithe(¢¢ operated as an impediment to his
career by making it harder to market his experience to other genplgyet he offers no evidence establishing that
he was in contact with other employers or that the titles of Warehouse SsmqreoviAssistant Warehouse Manager
did not accurately reflect his duties with Fuji. Without evidence to stigps version of his claim, it too fails.

20



Smith’s departure in 2008, and because he has offered no evidernoertatesignated

a new title entitled him to additional responsibilities, pay, or benefits, his claims do not
constitute aractionable adverse employment actiorder 42 U.S.C§ 1981 See
Herrnreiter, 315 F.3d at 744. Accordingly, Fuji’'s motion for summary judgment is

GRANTED on all claims related to Plaintiff's title designations
1. Disparate Pay

The remainder of Laura’s claims properly constrasalaims of disparate pan

violation of 42 U.S.C§ 1981. SpecificallyPlaintiff alleges:

5. Laura suffered adverse job action in that he was not paid in the
manner in which he should have been paid, namely overtime
compensation when other salaried employees of Fuji who were not
members of Laura’s protected classes were paid for such overtime
compensation.

6. Laura suffered adverse job action in that he was not paid in the
manner in which he should have been paid, an appropriate salary
together with periodic and appropriate raises in salary and bonuses for
work he was performing including the substantially iasesd
responsibilities of a Warehouse Manager and/or Senior Warehouse
Manager, in spite of the tremendous growth of Fuji, along with
concomitant increase in Laura’s job responsibilities at work.

Dkt. 42 at 5, 17#18.

A plaintiff may prove discrimination through direct@rcumstantial evidence,
which may be analyzed under either the direct method, andirectmethod set forth in

McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. GreeAll U.S. 7921973).Coleman v. Donaho&67

5 As framed by Plaintiff hee, this allegation contains no reference whatsoever to any Fupyeepl

outside Plaintiff's class or to Plaintiff's racgince, as previously noted, the Court doassit asa super-
personnel department, and it is not oale to determine whether Laura’s salary, raises, and bonuses
accurately reflected the work he was performing; instead, wen@&u@'s actions to ascertamnly if

they violated 42 U.S.C. § 1981, which prohibits racial discriminadiod retaliation againsimployees.

See Nehan v. Tootsie Roll Indus., 12015 WL 5116876, at *2 (7th Cir. Sep. 1, 2015). Because Plaintiff
offers comparisons to other employees and evidence regarding bothdaxseydater in his brief, we
consider this allegation to encompasclaim ofacial discriminationin violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981
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F.3d 835, 845 (7th Cir. 2012)he direct method allows a plaintiff to prove

discrimination by providing “direct evidence” of intentional discrimination, or by

compiling a “convincing mosaic of circumstantial evidence” of the s&we. Troupe v.

May Dep. Stores Co20 F.3d 734 (7th (€. 1994).Given the difficulty of proving an
employer’s intent “directly,” the indirect method offers an alternative. Under the indirect
method a plaintiff may create the presumption that his employer’s actions were motivated
by unlawful discrimination if he can meet the lower threshold of provimgnaa facie

case.See OrtorBell v. Indiana 759 F.3d 768, 773 (7th Cir. 2014).

Laura has failed to identifshe methodunder whichhe is proceedinbere Instead,
simply citesthe Seventh Circuit’s decision @oleman v. Donahg&67 F.3d. 835 (7th
Cir. 2012), which, he stresses, replaced the two methods of anailystbe single
determinatiorof whether his evidence, when viewed as a whole, establishes a
“convincing mosaic” of evidence sufficient to permitiaference of discrimination. Dkt.
42 at 15. While it is true thappellatecourt “bemoaned the snarls and knots” of the direct
and indirect methods in itSolemandecision, it hasurtherclarified that “the law
remains the sameSeeOrton-Bell v. Indiara, 759 F.3d 768, 77@&th Cir. 2014)“While
all relevant direcand circumstantial evidence is considered (intigality’ ) in both
methods, we do indeed consider ftheect’ and ‘indirect’ methods separately when
reviewing summary judgment because we are not authorized to abjure a framework that
the Supreme Court has established.”) Thus, ubdér methodsthe fundamental
guestion remains “whether a reasonable jury could find prohibited discrimiriafemn
id. (quotation omittd). Plaintiff must therefore structure his analyisi® manner which

allows the court tdully and appropriately assesise evidence.
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Laurainvokes a hodg@odge ofterminologydrawing randomly froneach
method referencing in certain instanchis prima faciecasewhile at other times
denouncing thapplicability of the indirect method’s foyoronged test. Certasections
of his brief purport to reflecdirect evidence” and “circumstantial evidenag”
discrimination, buthat evidence is never tiéd or associated with either a method or a
specific claimAlthough Plaintiff references on one occasigprima faciecase(see Dkt.
42 at 19, his primary thrust is a request that the evidence be viewed as a whole in
determiningwhether a “convincing mosaic” of discrimination has been established. This
approach appears to best closely analogous the direct method’s analysis of

circumstantial evidence, so we shall procaecbrding to that approach

A. Direct Method

Under the direct method, Laucan succeed iavoidingsummary judgment by
presenting sufficient evidence, either direct or circumstantial to establish that Fuji acted
out of racial animus or discrimination in paying him less thiarco-workerswho are
outside his protected clagsbuelyaman v. lllinois State Unj\667 F.3d 800, 809 (7th

Cir. 2011).

1. Direct Evidence

Direct evidence is “evidence which if believed...will prove the particular fact in
guestion without reliance on inference or presumptigvalker v. Glikman 241 F.3d
884, 888 (7th Cir. 2001) (internal quotations omitted). This typembking gun”
evidencds hard to come by as it “essentially requires an admission by the decision

maker that his actions were based upon the prohibited ani@esuitti v.BASF Corp.
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349 F.3d 1055, 106®1 (7th Cir. 2003)see alsdJnited States Postal Service Board of
Governors v. Aikengl60 U.S. 711, 7161983) (“[t]here will seldom be eyewitness

testimony as to the employer’'s mental processes”).

Laura cites fourfactsas“Direct Evidence” of a race based disparate pay claim: (1)
Susan Thomas'’s testimony that, in her opinion, Laura was discriminated against based on
his race, Thomas Dep. 22641B, 253:5 15; (2) Thomas’s testimony that “it was
reported to her” that Fuji's former President, Mr. Sato, “at some point” referred to Laura
as “useless” and threatened “to replace everyone with Japanese enjilegaase] they
could do the job much quicker,” Thomas Dep. 1882853 230:1619; (3) Laura’s
testimony that he was told by Thomas that he would have been paid more money if he
were white or Japanese, Laura Dep. 290; hnd (4) Ken Tanahara’s testimony that, in
his opinion, Laura was treated differently than other salaried employees. Tanahara Dep.

54:13-20.

Although cetain portionsof this evidence may be fairly considered as
circumstantial evidence, it is nttirect evidence” of discriminatiorfAn example of
direct evidence would be an employer's admission that an adverse employment action
was taken against an employee based solely on an impermissible ground, such as race.
This type of evidence is admittedly rdr®andy v. United Parcel Serv., In@88 F.3d
263, 272 (7th Cir. 2004). The opinions of Susan Thomas and Ken Tadahaoa
constitute direct evidence of racial discriminatimctauseeither was a decisiemaker
with respecto Laura’s pay. Working in close association with the President ofiayji
have allowed them to arrive at personal impressiegardingof Laura’s treatment, but

those opinions do n&quate to an admission by the decigieaker ofracialanimus or
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discrimination. Likewise, Satoallegedcomment that Laura was “useless” and his threat
to replace all the employees at Rujth Japanese workeedsofalls short of constituting

direct evidence of discrimination. Derogatory remarks suchisaré considered direct
evidence only “when the decision makers themselves, or those who provide input into the
decision, express such feelings (1) around the time of, and (2) in reference togtise adv
employment action complained ofSorence 242 F.3dat 762 (7th Cir. 2001jquoting

Hunt v. City of Markham, 111219 F.3d 649 (7th Cir. 2000plaintiff has providedho

evidence that Satevermade good on his threat to replace the warehouse employees with
Japanese workersr that it resulted irany specific adverse employment actagainst

him. Without the remark being tied to an adverse employment action, Sato’s comments
are no more thabhackgroundhat is arguablyn support of an inferencaf

discrimination.See Nat'l R.R. Passenger Corp. v. Morga6 U.S. 101, 113 (2002)

2. Circumstantial Evidence

In place of “direct evidence[’aura offes what he characterizes as a “convincing
mosaic” of circumstantial evidence to sugggistrimination, albeiinvolving a long
string of inferenced_uks v. Baxter Healthcare Corpl67 F.3d 1049, 1052 (7th Cir.
2006) Courts have identifiethree categories of circumstantial evidence on which a
plaintiff can rely in applyinghe “convincing mosaic” approach: (1) evidence, but not
necessarily rigorous statistical evidence, that similarly situated employees were treated
differently; (2) evidence that the employer offered a pretextual reason for an adverse
employment action; an(8) evidence of suspicious timing, ambiguous statements, and
other bits and pieces from which an inference of discriminatory intent might be drawn.

Coleman v. Donahg&67 F.3d 835, 860 (7th Cir. 201@pllecting caseskee also
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Troupe v. May Dept. Steg 20 F.3d 734 (7th Cir. 1994). “Each type of evidence is
sufficient by itself (depending of course on its strength in relation to whatever other
evidence is in the case) to support a judgment for the plaintiff; or they can be used

together.”ld. (citing Troupe,20 F.3d at 736

The firsttwo categories resemble teeementgequiredunder the indirect method
of proof, suggestingn overlapetween thenthatmight explainLaurds attempt to
combine theanalyticalmethods into to a single te$the mosaic approach provides
parties and courtsomewhamore flexibility and room for common sense than the
indirect method typicallyllows.Coleman v. Donahq&67 F.3d 835, 860 (7th Cir.
2012) What the mosaic approach does not do, however, is grant Plaintiff license 1o “fact
dump” everyfact big and small, significant or insignificant, that weearthed during
discovery without regard to whether it is inadmissible, irrelevantsmeculative hoping

that thecourt will sift through the record to figure out what matters and.how

Throughout his brief, Laura discusses the treatment of numetioeisFuji
employees, each of whom he alleges twaated or paid better by Fukior example

Laura claimghatElizabeth Johnson and Frank Qin, salaried salespersons in Fuji’s Sales

® We havenot consideed Thomas's statement that Maehara was prejudiced against Laura or her
testimony that Laura would have been paid more and promoted fastevef&idapanesgiven that
Thomas ould not attest ttMaehara’s mental state or predict what might have happened if Laugaiv
another nationality. See Fed. R. Evid. 68¥e similarlyhavenot consideedKen Tanahara’s statement
that Laura was treated differently thather employeebecause it lacks relevanceltaura’s § 1981 claim
in light of his testimony (located just a few lines away) that he did not believksparate treatment was
based on race. Tanahara Dep. 54218 Finally, wehavenot consideed Thomas’stestimony regarding
Fuji's parent company’s directors and their comments concerning “Jagpaxeatriates” as they too are
irrelevant both because Fuji’'s parent company is not a party to tiue aod because claims of
discrimination based on nationalgin are not cognizable under 42 U.S.C. § 1981. While we do consider
claims of racism and ethnicity as they apply to Laura’sdsieworkers, any references made to
“expatriates” clearly signal preferences of national origin atimeciship, not race&seeVon Zuckerstein v.
Argonne Nat. Lap984 F.2d 1467, 1472 (7th Cir. 1993).
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Department, received overtime compensation during a period of time when Laura did
not.” Dkt. 42 at 6, 13He furtheralleges that Horace Tucker, Jim Christie, Nigel Christen
and Tomoyasu Masuyamaaseach paid a higher income thanrkeeived Dkt. 42 at 30.
Laurahas not classifiethese employeess“comparators’to himor provided any

explanation as twaysin whichtheymay besimilarly situated tdim. Instead, he
maintainsthat “it is simply is (sic) not necessary to have a similarly situated comparator
to make a viable claim.” Dkt. 42 at 19. While it is true thaliaintiff who amasses

sufficient direct evidence of discrimination may proceed without evidence of similarly
situated comparators, the treatment of other employees by the employer is relevant to the
extent theyemployees are similarly situatedtte plaintiff.In other wordsassuming
Lauraseeks to have the court considerélperiencesf other Fuji employees, he must
provide somevidentiarybasis upon which a “meaningful comparison” can be conducted
that would permit a reasonable jury to infer discriminatidéee Coleman v. Donahdg67

F.3d 835, 841 (7th Cir. 2012). Without any basis for the compawbasoever of the
abovementioned employees, this evidence comes up short. We remind counsel that it is
not incumbent on the Court to parse the record in an effort to identify or formulate a
winning theory of relief. We note. Consistent with Fuji's arguménattegach of these
employees held different positiorirom Laura’s, inadifferent department, with different

duties.“T he most obvious and common reason to pay one employee more or less than

" More precisely, Laura claims that after he became a salanipibyee in March 2013, Fuiji ceased
paying him overtime compensation. Then, on some unspecifiednd2®@4, Fuji began paying him for
work done on weekends devoted to Fufirgest custometQubaru Saturday3’ Meanwhile, Qin and
Johnson received overtime pay for all work done in excess of forty hoilssome other unspecified
date in 2014, when Fuji ceased making those overtime payments. Gureanth earns overtime
compensation onlyof work done on “Subaru Saturdays,” whereas Qin and Johnson earn mo@vert
whatsoever.
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another is that they are not performing similar jobs.” Dkt. 43 gudt{ngBeard v.

Whitley Cty. REM(C656 F. Supp. 1461, 1472 (N.D. Ind. 1987).

Lauradoes, howeveiproffer one Fujemployee as an appropriate comparator:
former Assistant Warehouse Manager, Mike Frela®e Dkt. 42 at 11Fuji asserts that
French, who served as Assistant Warehouse Manager from 1992 to 2007, was paid less
than Laura; during hinal year of employment with Fuji hisi-weekly salarywas
$1,682.18 wheread.aura began receiving birweekly salary of $1730.8n March
2013, which was thereafter waaised to $1,75t April 2014. Dkt. 38 at 5 (citing
Rhodes Aff.g 6). Lauraargues that thisomparison should beginot when hébegan
receiving salaryn 2013or when heaeceived thditle of Assistant Warehouse Manager
2012 butwhen he became tlue factohead of the Warehouse Departmien2008
According to Laura, although he assumed responsibility for the duties assighed to
Assistant Warehouse Managerduly 2008, he continued to receive the same hourly rate
of $16.62 until January 28, 2012. Dkt. 46 at 4. Thus, he maintains, while Mike Feench
white employee, was paid $46,135.65 in 2006, Laura earned $44, 1924l for
performingthe same duties dsehead of the Warehouse Department. Hunt Aff. Exs. 3,

4.

As noted previously, it isndisputd that, as of July 2008, Laura wihe highest
ranking and highest paid employee in Fuji's Warehouse Department. Laura cahtnds
the fact thahisresponsibilities, pay, and dutissmained the same after he wasegithe
title of Assistant Warehouse Managgevidence of discrimination against him,
especially compared to Mike French’s saldtyji explains in detaithat jobtitles arenot

correlated withincreases in pay and responsibilities. See e.g., Dkt. 43 at 17 (explaining
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that there is “no evidence that Fuji always provides a pay increase when it promotes a
department leader to a highdle.”). Whetherthe comparison betwedrauraand French
should include the time between Laura'ssumption oleadership @sponsibilities for the
Warehouse Department and his eventual receipt of the Assistant Warehouse Manager
title is a fact we cannot resolve on summary judgment. The evidence estalbleghes
approximatelyfive years after French’s departure, Laura Waisigpaid slightly less than
$2,000 lesainnuallyfor fulfilling virtually the same rold-rench had heldsee Srail v.
Village of Lis| 588 F.3d 940, 945 (7th Cir. 2009) (“Whether a comparator is similarly
situated is ‘usually a question for the féicder,” and summary judgment is appropriate
only when ‘no reasonable fafthder could find that plaintiffs have met their burden on

the issue.’ ")

Theopinion of Susan Thomas, Fuji's Manager of Human Resources at the time,
wasthat the difference isalary was attributabk® Laura’s race. Thomas Dep. 226:11
13, 253:5-15. Her opinionprimarily reflectedthe evaluation she completed in 2008
which statedhat Fuji was “expecting more from Doug than from any other Warehouse
MGR” and explicitly comparetim to Barbara Smith and Mike French, winshe
believedreceivedpreferential treatment. Thomas Dep. 2271%) Dkt. 421 at 14 Her
evaluation providethat shé'believe[d] Management ha[d] done very little [to motivate,
encourage, and train Laura] due to the preconceived idea that Dpug]asiseless’ as
expressed bilazou Sato, Fuji's acting President from 2008 to 20tibmas Dep.
188:18-25, 230:16-19. Notwithstanding Fuiji’s alleged failure to motivate, encourage,
and train Laura, it washomas’sopinion that Laura consistentherformed “above
average.’ld. Likewise,Ken Tanaharand MakotoMaeharadescribed the quality of
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Laura’s work as “very good,‘well done,” and “well executed.Tanahara Dep. 39:9

40:4;Maehara Dep. 16:918

Taken together, Laurareceipt ofess paycompared to Mike Frencithomas’s
testimony that.aurawas treated differentligy Fuji based on his racand the overall
positive assessmeat the quality ofLaura’s work constitutesufficient evidencen
which a reasonable jury calinfer discrimination. Accordingly, WBENY Fuji’'s

motion for summary judgmemin Laura’s claim of disparate pay.

Conclusion

Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment [Docket. No. 37] on Laura’s disparate

pay claimis DENIED. ° Defendant’s motion on all other clairssGRANTED.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

@ M’&BM\@{

SARAH EVANS BARK\ER, JUDGE
United States District Court
Southern District of Indiana

Date: 2/2/2016

8 Plaintiff contends thatht overall approval of his wodombined with absence of any formal
evaluations or written criticisrsuffices to show that Maehara’s reasdor issuing him a 1.11% raise in
April 2014 were pretextualSee Dkt. 46 at 2. While this evidence falrt of establishing pretextin
that it does not establishat Maehara’s assessment of Laura’s management skitlsdegp qualities,
and work éhic as well as his consideration of shipping and labeling errors was ia facverup” for
unlawful discrimination, selcDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greedll U.S. 792, 805 (1973)it is
relevant circumstantial evidenoéLaura’s disparate treatmeciaim

° This claim isof coursdimited to disparate pay as compared to forteades of the Warehouse
Departmentnamely Mike French and Barbara Smahdthe4—year statute of limitationgursuant t®
1658. Recoverymay be sought only with respeotpaychec&received after June 2, 201%ee Groesch v.
City of Springield, Ill, 635 F.3d 1020, 1027 (7th Cir. 2011) (explaining application of the paycheck
accrual rule).
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